I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


A. The Court erred by holding that clients were required to litigate to conclusion against 
the IRS before they could sustain claims against their tax attorneys, regardless of the 
degree of misconduct by the tax attorneys and regardless of the risks to plaintiffs if they 
failed to settle, and further erred by holding as a matter of law that plaintiffs could not 
prove causation in this case, where defendants had promised that the IRS could not 
disregard the tax attorneys' tax structure, represented that the purchaser was legitimate 
and led plaintiffs to believe that they had investigated the purchaser. 

B. The Trial Court erred in finding that one of the plaintiff's claims was barred because 
she did not settle with the IRS. 

C. The Trial Court erred in making findings of genuinely disputed fact in favor of the 
defendant. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case arose out of the sale of The Kay Company on or about October 26, 2000, and 

the adverse consequences of the sale as designed, arranged and consummated by defendant, 

McGuireWoods, although the plaintiffs did not discover the wrongful conduct until 2007, when 

the IRS disregarded the transaction. The Kay Company was a closely held family corporation 

formed in 1929, in West Virginia. Its primary business was in coal, oil and gas, all of which was 

in West Virginia. Over the course of time, the corporation acquired securities ("portfolio") 

worth nearly $10 million. (Affidavit of Henry Battle, JAI13I) The Board of Directors and some 

of the stockholders had, for a few years, considered the best use of the portfolio, including 

selling it or distributing it to the stockholders. They had been advised that any gain from the sale 

and distribution of the stock would be double taxed -- once to the corporation and second to the 

stockholders. Because there was a low basis in the stocks, the double tax would be large. That 

alternative was not a reasonable one, so they had decided not to pursue it. 

Skip Roberts was on the Board and the Executive Committee of Kay Co. Mr. Roberts 

was an attorney and had been working with McGuireWoods on matters totally unrelated to issues 

in this case. In one such meeting, he mentioned the double tax issue to a McGuire Woods 



attorney. That attorney "referred" Mr. Roberts to Tom Rohman, a McGuireWoods tax partner. 

Mr. Roberts was infonned that Mr. Rohman recently arranged a transaction where $30 million in 

low basis stock was sold and McGuireWoods' client avoided the double tax. (JA186) 

McGuire Woods was involved with others in the business of arranging for parties who had 

purported losses in their business to purchase corporations which had built in capital gains at a 

discount. For a contingent fee, McGuire Woods would arrange for the transaction to take place, 

perfonn legal work associated with the transaction and provide the seller with a tax opinion letter 

advising them that they would only be taxed one time on the capital gains. (JA1148, 

"Promoters") 

In early 2000, Tom Rohman advised Skip Roberts that he knew of a buyer who had 

capital losses that could be used to offset gains from the sale of Kay's portfolio and would be 

interested in buying Kay's stock, which would result in Kay's stockholders being taxed only 

once on the sale. The Kay Company was told "McGuire Woods has brought together such 

companies with buyers who have ongoing tax losses which can offset the built-in portfolio 

gains of the selling companies. Skip believes they have made several large purchases through 

structures along these lines." (JA1154) The IRS' "Transferee Report" provides an analysis of the 

complex arrangement and the players, as well as the position the IRS took with regard to the 

transaction. (JAl144-1229) 

On July 5, 2000, Mr. Rohman wrote to The Kay Company and outlined the structure, 

explaining that there would be only a single tax to the shareholders, not a double tax. (JA1305.) 

Mr. Rohman proceeded to describe the general transaction and "Federal Income Tax 

Consequences To The Shareholders" and "Federal Income Tax Consequences To The 

Company," including what happens "[w]hen the Company transfers the Retained Assets to the 

LLC." (JA1306) On the same day, McGuireWoods forwarded the "engagement letter" to the 
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"Board of Directors, The Kay Company." (JA130S) Mr. Battle, as President of Kay Co., signed 

the contract in Charleston and accepted the offer of McGuire Woods. In McGuire Woods' 

engagement letter, it described its services as follows: 

"representing the Company in connection with a sale of the Company (the 
"Sale")... "advising you in connection with the structuring, negotiating and closing of the 
Sale." ... "the preparation or review of the various agreements and legal documents 
necessary to effect the Sale." ... "We will also advise with respect to the federal income tax 
consequences of the Sale to the Company and its shareholders." ... "Fees. Our firm's fee 
for the services to be rendered shall be $125,000 payable at closing of the Sale. This fee is 
payable if and only if the sale closes" (JA130S) 

A. McGUIREWOODS WAS ATTORNEY AND PROMOTER 

This was not the normal attorney-client relationship. Usually, parties to a business deal 

decide to do business with one another and then they seek legal advice with respect to the 

proposed transaction. Here, McGuireWoods provided the idea, the deal (the transaction), had the 

buyer, and provided the tax advice and opinions. Therefore, McGuireWoods was one of the 

promoters in the deal along with Integrated Capital Associates, as asserted by the IRS. 

(Transferee Report, JAI14S) Plaintiffs allege that McGuireWoods is liable to plaintiffs, both as 

attorney and as a promoter, as a joint tortfeasor and as a joint venturer with the other promoters. 

(See IRS Transferee Report, JA1144, incorporated into answer to Interrogatory Number 11, 

JA1241, for a detailed description of this joint venture.) The IRS identified Kay as the "target" 

corporation and stated: "ICA and McGuireWoods were the tax shelter promoters." (JA1147-S) 

The IRS prepared a flowchart showing the parties to the Intermediary transaction involving Kay 

Co. (JA1213): 

-y-t-a~ I--'<~~ c:::::::::c:::»........-.s:>~r-.Y" ,/ <::=.~IC> ~t-~t.......tc::::l>~ """T""r-......~t: 
1r-.~r-~~~i~1fI"""'Y" --.--r-.=<;a.....-a.lS3;.~c:=t.I<=>..-. 
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"McGuireWoods placed at least five of its clients in Intermediary transactions with ICA. 

In each case the McGuire Woods client was a personal holding company with appreciated 

marketable securities. The transaction involving Kay Co. was the second transaction of the five 

known transactions involving a client of McGuireWoods." (JA1148) Therefore, importantly, 

McGuire Woods not only offered to give a tax opinion, it also structured the entire deal, and 

promoted the deal along with leA and others for a fee of $125,000, a fee which was contingent 

upon the deal being consummated. Therefore, McGuire Woods was acting in a dual role, first as a 

promoter in bringing a buyer to plaintiffs and then as tax expert to motivate plaintiffs, the 

"Target," to sell their company for a discount -- in this case the discount was about a million 

dollars -- with the promise that they would not be double taxed on the sale of their stock 

portfolio. 

Plaintiffs, by verified interrogatory answers, explained what McGuire Woods did that 

caused them their damages, what McGuire Woods misrepresented to them, why they settled with 

the IRS, and what their damages were. (plaintiffs' answers to interrogatory numbers 1,8,2 and 

25, respectively, JAI231-39, 1242-44) Board Member Jack Kay, told Mr. Rohman, "I didn't 

want The Kay Company to get involved in anything that there was any risk involved." (JAI295) 

Mr. Rohman expressed that there was absolutely no concern and identified no risk. (JAI295) 

Mr. Rohman "talked about ... the number of deals that he said that he had worked on, and ... had 

run into no problems." (JAI295) Jack Kay questioned whether the purchaser was legitimate, 

but Mr. Rohman "gave me confidence was a good law firm, unequivocal." "[Mr. Rohman] 

identified no risks" of any kind. (JAI296) Further, The Kay Company Board of Directors 

"relied totally on McGuireWoods." (JAI297) Arnett & Foster recommended that plaintiffs 

could seek a "private ruling" from the IRS to determine whether the proposed structure was 
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acceptable to the IRS. When asked of the admissibility, Mr. Rohman "said it wasn't necessary." 

(JAI298) 

Importantly, on October 23, 2000, McGuireWoods attorney Carlos Brown wrote to 

Henry Battle, President of The Kay Co. and stated: 

2) Also I have raised the tax issues that we discussed with Tom and he has also spoken 
with Steve Robey, and Tom is confidant [sic] that our tax structure could not be 
disregarded. 

(JA1303) Hence, the plaintiffs were expressly told that the IRS could not disregard the 

transaction. 

B. PLAINTIFFS RELIED ON MCGUIREWOODS' ADVICE AND ASSURANCES AND SELL THE KAy Co. 

This was a complex sale transaction, basically to an alleged fraudulent purchaser, which 

McGuire Woods arranged, orchestrated, and structured. (IRS Transferee Report, JA 1144-1229) 

McGuire Woods arranged for plaintiffs to sell Kay Co. to a company formed solely to "purchase" 

their stock and promptly liquidate Kay Co. without paying taxes owed. However, Tom Rohman 

reported over the phone to the Board that the transaction was legitimate and the Board relied on 

that representation. (8-22-00 Bd. of Dir. Mtg. minutes, JA1330; 8-22-00 Board Conf. Call 

MemolNotes, JA1332) Relying on McGuireWoods' representations, on or about October 26, 

2000, Kay Co. and its shareholders entered into a sale transaction whereby all of the stock of 

Kay Co. was sold ("Stock Sale") at an approximately one million dollar discount. (Stock 

Purchase Agreement, J A 1401-1435) 

The Kay Company made repeated inquiries and requests to McGuire Woods about 

making sure that the deal was legitimate, that the money came from American banks, that the 

buyer be clearly identified and the companies and law firms on the buyer's side were reputable 

and legitimate. (See various documents related to checking out the buyer, JAI436-1458; Depo. 

John F. "Jack" Kay, JAI292-1302; Affidavit Henry Battle, JAI132-1134.) McGuireWoods 
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continued to assure The Kay Co. that the tax structure "could not be disregarded" by the IRS and 

that the buyer was legitimate. (10-23-00 Email of McGuireWoods' Brown, JA1303; Depo. of 

Jack Kay, JAI294-1296) McGuireWoods was to provide a tax opinion that properly advised the 

plaintiffs of the risks and benefits associated with the deal and further confirming that it would 

receive only one level of tax. (8-22-00 Bd. Mtg. minutes, JA1330; McGuireWoods' Tax 

Opinion, JA1459) 

Instead, McGuire Woods arranged for the plaintiffs to sell their stock to a shell company 

that did not have valid assets to pay the corporate tax nor valid loss which would have offset the 

gains for the stock sale, even though the plaintiffs specifically asked McGuireWoods to ensure 

that none of the parties were engaged in any improper activities. (Transferee Report, JA1144

1229; Various Documents related to checking out the buyer, JAI436-1458, and depo. Jack Kay, 

JA1295) The plaintiffs relied on the advice and misrepresentations of the defendant law firm 

and sold the Kay Co. stock in what turned out to be a "Son of Boss" transaction. As a result the 

plaintiffs were damaged by a hefty tax assessment by the IRS, which the plaintiffs had to 

negotiate, settle and pay to avoid even greater potential economic disaster. 

Had plaintiffs been informed of all the facts and risks surrounding the sale of Kay Co. 

and/or notices and legal doctrines, including but not limited to "Son of Boss" notices, they would 

never have entered into the transaction as recommended by McGuireWoods. (Affidavit of Henry 

W. Battle, JAI131; DepoJack Kay JAI292-1302) 

C. IRS ASSESSED PLAINTIFFS DUE To DEFENDANT'S IMPROPER, INCOMPLETE ADVICE. 

On or about August 3, 2007, the Internal Revenue Service assessed plaintiffs over $5 

million (the amount of the tax, interest and the penalties cumulatively being referred to as the 

"Tax Assessment,") as a result of gains triggered on the sale of the Portfolio Securities, which 

were not sheltered by McGuireWood's scheme. (See IRS Assessments, JAI247-1262) The 
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Internal Revenue Service determined the transaction was a "sham" transaction, a Son of Boss 

deal. (JAI144,1484) The IRS, therefore, asserted the Tax Assessment for unpaid corporate taxes 

against the Kay shareholders under doctrines of ''transferee'' liability, step transaction and 

economic substance. (See IRS Assessments, JAI247-1262; Transferee Report, JAI144-1229.) 

All of these doctrines existed at the time McGuire Woods provided its tax opinion to the 

plaintiffs, and none of these doctrines were identified by McGuire Woods in its tax opinion, as 

they should have been. (JAI454) For that matter, McGuireWoods did not identify any risks 

associated with the transaction. (JAI454) 

D. PLAINTIFFS SETTLE WITH THE IRS FOR GOOD REASONS THAT WERE BEYOND THEIR 
CONTROL. 

Following negotiations and proceedings, the tax assessment cases were ultimately settled 

with the IRS because plaintiffs could not afford to continue the fight and could not afford to risk 

the over five million dollar loss. (See IRS settlement agreements, JAI263-1291; depo."Jack" 

Kay, JA1300) As a result, after advice from their attorneys, the plaintiffs paid approximately 

$1,820,000.00 to the Internal Revenue Service to resolve the claims against them, together with 

interest and penalties. (JAI263-1291) Further, plaintiffs incurred legal and accounting fees in the 

amount of approximately $575,000.00 in attempting to defend the transaction. (JAI189, 1961) 

Then, the IRS pursued the predecessor company, The Kay Company, LLC for the 

remaining taxes it deemed owed. The IRS froze assets of the LLC, and plaintiffs again were 

subjected to lost income and large additional attorney fees. (JA728) 

Jack Kay described the reason plaintiffs settled with the IRS: It was extremely expensive 

and they were running out of money. They simply could not afford to fight it any longer because 

they had spent hundreds of thousands of dollars and the end was not in sight. They had no 

choice. (Dep. "Jack" Kay, JAI300.) "We talked during this period too with McGuire Woods 
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and tried to get some assistance with them, and with very little success ...they just didn't want to 

get involved anymore ... We tendered ...the defense to them and they just really ignored us." 

(JAl30l)l "We were under the gun, we had counsel's recommendation2 and we weren't getting 

any help from McGuire Woods and we were desperate." (JAl30l) In fact, the plaintiffs advised 

McGuire Woods of the proposed IRS settlement and offered, in lieu thereof, to let them take over 

representation of the plaintiffs in the IRS dispute. McGuireWoods declined. (11-4-09 ltr. to 

def., JA1471) 

E. McGUIREWOODS' TAX ADVICE WAS MISLEADING. INCOMPLETE. INACCURATE. AND DID 
NOT MEET LEGAL STANDARDS OF IRS CIRCULAR 230. 

As a tax expert, McGuire Woods had a duty and responsibility to inquire as to the full 

nature of the proposed Stock Sale and to inform and advise plaintiffs of all of the potential risks 

and tax liabilities they might face if they entered into the transaction as designed by 

McGuire Woods as well as advise plaintiffs that they should not enter into the transaction if it 

were improper or likely to be challenged by the IRS. McGuire Woods had a further duty and 

responsibility to plaintiffs, because they specifically asked, to investigate the validity of the 

1 Jim Sturgeon at Kay Casto, who represented the plaintiffs in the IRS assessment, confmned: "Before 
they settled the litigation, McGuireWoods was offered the opportunity of taking over and defending 
this litigation. They were very well aware of what was going on with this because they were -- we tried 
to keep them informed of the status of this matter. Q. My question is whether you talked to them about 
them associating with you to defend the IRS's claims at any time prior to your letter in November of 
2009? A. Yes. I made a trip to Richmond to go over and meet with McGuire Woods and ask them what 
their views were about this and have them full opportunity to participate in giving us advice on how to 
handle this issue. Q. At any time prior to November of 2009 when you sent the letter, did you ever on 
behalf of The Kay Company shareholders tender the defense to McGuire Woods?... A. The short 
answer is initially when this occurred, I went, hat in hand, to McGuireWoods and asked for their 
complete assistance and their advice and recommendations and asked them to participate to the 
maximum extent that they would. Yes, there was a formal request for them to take over the defense, 
but that was a follow-along to numerous conversations I had with McGuire Woods over a period of time. 
(Deposition of Jim Sturgeon JA696-7) There was never an offer from them to do anything in terms of 
taking over the defense and taking on the responsibility of standing behind what they sold. (JA724) 
2 Attorney Sturgeon: "In this case there was substantial risk. When you say "substantial risk," what do you 
mean by substantial? It means that there's a high probability that the shareholders could walk away 
owing the government exactly what the government demanded, and/or that they could be exposed 
to such continuing legal fees that even if they won, they lost." (JA 705) 
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buyer of the stock of Kay Co. to reasonably ensure that the buyer was a legitimate business and 

in full compliance with applicable tax laws and that the buyer had legitimately incurred tax 

losses. (JA1504, Declaration of Robert L. Sommers; JAl131-1143, Henry W. Battle.) 

The tax opinion provided by McGuire Woods was not complete, and merely addressed tax 

consequences for one part of this complicated transaction, which it promoted. The opinion failed 

to address even a basic analysis of principles of federal income tax that could cause the IRS to 

disregard or re-characterize this transaction.3 However, the record shows that McGuireWoods, 

based on its internal notes, was fully aware of such risks. In its notes, the questions were asked: 

"If there is any re-characterization by the Service of tax treatment, who pays the taxes?" 

and "What happens if the IRS disregards our structure and deems it a liquidation prior to 

closing?" (Transferee Report, JAl166, McGuireWoods handwritten notes, JA1508) Of course, 

those risks and McGuire Wood's warning should have been provided to plaintiffs in 

McGuire Wood's flnal tax opinion letter to plaintiffs. 

Thus, McGuire Woods was aware that the IRS might re-characterize this stock sale, which 

it did, and that the IRS might attempt to make the Kay shareholders pay the tax, which it did. 

While the plaintiffs' tax lawyers knew the risks in the deal, they did not tell the plaintiffs or 

present the risk factors in their purported legal opinion - thereby acting more as promoter than as 

3Attorney Sturgeon stated succinctly: "I talked to Marvin Masters about the representation by 
McGuireWoods and my impressions of it, which are that McGuireWoods acted as a salesman and 
didn't give the client any balanced advice on this transaction." ( JA691) A- this had every red flag 
of being a tax shelter from the very beginning. Q. Well, you indicated that one of those red flags was 
the contingency fee. A. Contingency fee, not disclosing the buyer's activities. There was no business 
purpose for the buyer buying this transaction. You had a [mancial buyer undertaking this transaction. 
Rohman didn't inquire in or provide to the clients that the background of what these people were doing or 
the fact that they were out here doing these transactions with people from all walks of life in this 
circumstance. 1 think there's a variety of red flags. I'm not here to act as an expert in this matter; but 
there's enough red flags on this play to put any reasonable tax lawyer on notice when he was selling 
this kind of a transaction like this, and he didn't bother to tell them anything about the risk factors. 
(JA731) 
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independent legal counsel. There is no doubt had McGuire Woods advised plaintiffs of the above 

risk, plaintiffs would not have done the deal. (JAl131-1135, Henry Battle Affidavit, JA1292

1302, "Jack" Kay Depo.) 

As stated by Robert L. Sommers, the plaintiffs' expert on legal malpractice and tax 

shelters, the defendant's legal opinion offered at the time of the transaction was highly deficient, 

and failed to provide even a basic analysis of the transaction and the inherent risks to Plaintiffs if

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