I 

., 0 11 ~ 

NOV I 2 2015IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRG ~. 
DOCKET NO. 15-0606 

RORY L PERRY n. CLERK 

SUPREME COURT OF APPEAlS 


OF WESTVIRGINIA 


JOHN F. KAY, JR., et al., PLAINTIFFS BELOW, 

Petitioners, 

v. 	 (Civil Action No. ll-C-615) 
(Kanawha County Circuit Court) 

MCGUIREWOODS LLP, DEFENDANT BELOW, 

Respondent. 

MCGUlREWOODS LLP'S RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR APPEAL 

AND CROSS-ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


Respectfully submitted: 

David B. Thomas (W. Va. BarNo. 3731) 
Susan M. Robinson (W. Va. Bar No. 5169) 
Bryant J. Spann (W. Va. BarNo. 8628) 
THOMAS COMBS & SPANN, PLLC 
300 Summers Street, Suite 1380 
P.O. Box 3824 
Charleston, WV 25338-3824

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

the IRS's rejection of positions the buyer caused to be taken on a 2001 tax return; if the IRS's 

assessment was correct, then the improper 2001 tax return was contrary to the Tax Opinion's 

assumptions and limitations. Thus, Appellants not only seek to expand McGuire Woods' liability 

beyond Calvert's general limits but also beyond specific limits in the Tax Opinion itself. 

Calvert controls this case. Just as Calvert holds that a lawyer cannot be required to 

deliver a litigation-proof will, the Circuit Court correctly held that McGuireWoods cannot be 

required to deliver a litigation-proof opinion letter or transaction. JA 11. The fact that the 

beneficiaries under the will in Calvert were sued established nothing; likewise the fact that the 

Appellants were pursued by the IRS seven years later establishes nothing. Calvert makes clear 

that no claim arises merely because a third-party sues a client and challenges her attorney's 

advice; unless a court actually determines that the third-party suit is valid, there can be no causal 

connection between the attorney's advice and the client's claimed damages. 

The facts in this case show more clearly than those in Calvert why causation cannot be 

established without a judgment. In Calvert, ambiguities in the will the defendant lawyer drafted 

necessitated the declaratory judgment action. Here, Appellants were not assessed because of 

McGuire Woods' advice, but because (1) the buyer filed the company's tax return in 2001; (2) the 
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IRS disallowed losses reported on that tax return in 2007; (3) the buyer failed to satisfy the 

additional taxes assessed in 2007; and, (4) the IRS pursued the Appellants for those unpaid taxes. 

Appellants cannot connect these events to McGuire Woods' October 2000 tax advice without at 

least getting a ruling as to whether Appellants even owed the taxes. 

Appellants attempt to distinguish Calvert by highlighting inconsequential facts. For 

example, they argue that because the Calverts settled a case involving money they had not yet 

received, then sued an attorney for that money, the Court's holding somehow does not apply 

here. App. Br. at 14-15. First, it is not clear that the proffered distinction is even true; as this 

Court noted regarding the Cal verts ' claims, ''the Calverts sought the amount that they were 

obligated to pay to settle the declaratory judgment action ...." Calvert, 619 S.E.2d at 201. 

Second, and more importantly, Calvert does not suggest that its result turned on whether the will 

beneficiaries were paying, or receiving, money in the settlement; the Court itself reformulated 

the certified question at issue and never referenced whether the Calverts were paying or 

receiving money. Id. at 202. Instead, the Court focused on the fact of settlement itself, and the 

fact that the case was not litigated to conclusion, in reformulating and answering the certified 

question. Id. at 202,208-09. Calvert matches the instant case on these essential points. 

The Circuit Court also correctly relied on a more recent Supreme Court of Appeals 

decision that, though per curiam, re-affirmed the rule and reasoning of Calvert. See JA 9 

(relying on Burnworth v. George, 749 S.E.2d 604 (W. Va. 2013)). Burnworth unanimously 

affirmed a trial court's grant of summary judgment to defendants in a legal malpractice action, 

because plaintiff had failed to prove causation. Id. at 611. Specifically, plaintiff Burnworth 

alleged that his attorneys had drafted a defective deed of trust; however, in litigation with the 

grantors of the deed, BurnW011h settled with the grantors and otherwise failed to pursue his 
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underlying claims. He then sued his attorneys for drafting a defective deed of trust. The Court 

reasoned that Burnworth's settlement barred him from proving that the deed of trust caused him 

damages: 

Mr. Burnworth negotiated a stipulated settlement with [the borrowers], through 
which he agreed to accept an amount less than the balance due under the 
promissory note but still did not attempt to recover upon the security that [the 
borrowers] had provided to him at closing. . . . Insofar as he essentially has 
forgiven all of the collateral initially pledged as a security for the promissory note, 
including the . . . deed of trust, by accepting a judgment in its stead, Mr. 
Burnworth has not established that he has sustained damages as a result of the 
defective deed of trust. 

Id. The Court concluded that Burnworth's settlement barred him from proving either damages or 

causation on his malpractice claim, and the Court therefore affirmed its dismissal. Id. 

Just as they did in their attempt to distinguish Calvert, Appellants ignore this operative 

language in Burnworth, and they argue that Burnworth does not hold that settlement bars proof 

ofproximate cause in a malpractice claim. App. Br. at 17. But that is exactly what it holds: The 

Court concluded that Burnworth eliminated his ability to prove that his lawyer harmed him by 

drafting a bad deed of trust when Burnworth traded that deed for a judgment in a settlement. 

Burnworth, 749 S.E.2d at 611. Finally, Appellants claim that Burnworth really turned on the fact 

that the plaintiff / client was trying to obtain money, rather than being sued. App. Br. at 17. 

Again, Appellants cite to nothing in the Burnworth decision suggesting that this fact drove the 

Court's analysis. 

Unable to distinguish Calvert or Burnworth, Appellants analogize to a per curiam 

opinion that is truly distinguishable. App. Br. at 15-16 (citing Sells v. Thomas, 640 S.E.2d 199 

CW. Va. 2006) (per curiam)). The facts of that case, and Appellants' own arguments, 

demonstrate that Sells does not govern this matter. The Circuit Court rightly found it 

inapplicable. JA 9-10. 
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In Sells, the Court reversed summary judgment for the defendant lawyer where a former 

client brought a malpractice action regarding his handling of a personal injury action. 640 

S.E.2d at 200. The plaintiff claimed the attorney "failed to investigate or pursue an underinsured 

motorist claim on her behalf," forcing her to settle the claim for a lesser amount. Id. at 201. The 

Court ultimately determined that the case would survive summary judgment because plaintiff's 

alleged personal injury damages were not too speculative; she had significant, permanent injuries 

to her legs, but because of her attorney's alleged malpractice, was only able to recover $50,000 

in settlement for those injuries. Id. at 204. 

In Sells, Plaintiffs decision to settle did not prevent her from proving that her attorney's 

negligence devalued that same settlement. The Court highlighted that very fact: "Thus, as a 

consequence of [attorney's] handling of this case, Ms. Sells was denied the opportunity to 

present . .. evidence [of her injuries} to a jury for fair adjudication of her case." Id. at 204 

(emphasis added). Her injuries were clear, and there was no question that, but for her attorney's 

actions, she would have recovered more money. Importantly, Sells did not involve a transaction, 

like Calvert or Burnworth; instead it concerned the attorney's representation of a client in a 

personal injury action where tmderlying liability was not in dispute and the only issue was his 

alleged failure to collect the sum ofdamages to which she was entitled. . 

Sells is entirely consistent with the decisions in Calvert and Burnworth. Ms. Sells was a 

plaintiff, and her settlement did not prevent proof of attorney malpractice; it was itself part of 

that proof. By contrast, in this case as in Calvert and Burnworth, the former client was sued by a 

third party regarding a past transaction, and rather than find out if the suit was valid, the former 

client settled the suit. The settlement, therefore, prevented proof of alleged attorney negligence. 

This suit falls into the Calvert and Burnworth fact pattern, and not the Sells pattern. 
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Appellants unpersuasively analogize this case to Sells. First, Sells was a litigation 

malpractice case involving a plaintiff who was seeking money damages and settled. But 

Appellants spend an entire section of their brief arguing that proof schemes regarding litigation 

malpractice do not apply in this case, because it involves allegations of transactional 

malpractice. See App. Br. at 23-25. Appellants then emphasize that McGuireWoods' alleged 

malpractice was not "in its representation of the plaintiffs in their disputes with the IRS," App. 

Br. at 18, and that the Kay shareholders were not "seeking money damages and settled," App. 

Br. at 18; see also id. at 21 ("Here, the alleged malpractice by McGuireWoods was not 

connected to the IRS dispute that plaintiffs settled ...."). Thus, Appellants' own arguments, and 

the facts about this case that they choose to highlight, distinguish it from Sells. 

Appellants then cite non-West Virginia cases that give this Court no reason to ignore 

Calvert and Burnworth. The majority of those cases involve attorneys who were sued after they 

handled litigation that was later settled and who are alleged to have prejudiced the case or 

devalued the settlement by their malpractice.7 Appellants themselves have taken pains to 

distinguish the current case from such "litigation malpractice" cases. App. Br. at 18 

("[M]cGuireWoods did not commit malpractice in its representation of the plaintiffs in their 

disputes with the IRS."). And this Court has already shown how it deals with cases where 

attorney malpractice devalues a settlement. See Seils, 640 S.E.2d 199. 

7 See Guido v. Duane Morris LLP, 995 A.2d 844, 845 (N.J. 2010) (pennitting malpractice claim to 
proceed where client alleged he entered into settlement "based on negligent advice from his lawyers"); 
Prospect Rehab Servs. v. Squitieri, 920 A.2d 135, 142 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2007) (client permitted 
to sue former attorney for malpractice in a case the client later settled partly because of that malpractice); 
Crestwood Cove Apts. Bus. Trust v. Turner, 64 P.3d 1247 (Utah 2007) (former client sues attorney for 
malpractice in a case the client later settled); Vahila v. Hall, 674 N.E.2d 1164 (Ohio 1997) (same); 
DePugh v. Sladoje, 676 N.E.2d 1231 (Ohio App. 1996) (client sued former attorney after settling 
wrongful death action because attorney missed statute of limitation). 
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Additionally, many of these cases involve clients who failed to appeal a trial court order. 

For example, in Crestwood Cove Apts. Bus. Trust v. Turner, 64 P.3d 1247 (Utah 2007), attorney 

Turner represented his client before the trial court, and the client lost. A judgment was entered 

against the client, Turner was fired, and new counsel appealed. While the appeal was pending, 

the client settled; it then sued Turner for negligently handling the trial court proceedings. Id. at 

1250. 

The Utah Supreme Court ruled that the settlement did not automatically bar the 

subsequent malpractice suit because the trial court proceedings were complete, and the court 

hearing the malpractice case could therefore judge whether the lawyer's malpractice, as opposed 

to judicial error in the trial court, had led to the judgment against the client. !d. at 1254. Here, 

there was no judgment of any kind; thus, there was no way for the Circuit Court to determine 

whether the (nonexistent) judgment was the result of malpractice. Turner is therefore consistent 

with Calvert. 

Other non-West Virginia cases Appellants cite do not even discuss the relevant issue 

here, namely, the effect of a client's settlement on that client's ability to sue his or her attorney. 

For example, the Supreme Court of Kentucky does not discuss the effect of settlement in AZagia, 

Day, Trautwein & Smith v. Broadbent, 882 S.W.2d 121 (Ky. 1994). That case instead focuses 

only on when the statute of limitations begins to run in a malpractice case. Id. Even more 

clearly, the New York court did not even mention whether there was a settlement in Est. of 

Nevelson v. Carro, Spanbock, Kaster & Cuiffo, 686 N'y.S.2d 404 (N.Y. App. Div. 1999). 

In dealing with non-West Virginia cases that McGuireWoods cited to the Circuit Court, 

Appellants' proffered distinctions are unpersuasive or even misleading. In the clearest example, 

Appellants wrongly claim that in Bronstein v. Kalcheim & Kalcheim, Ltd, the Illinois Court of 
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Appeals "held that the plaintiff could maintain a malpractice action against the attorney, but it 

was premature because he only had the assessment against the IRS pending, but he had neither a 

judgment, nor presumably had he settled." App. Br. at 23 (citing 414 N.E.2d 96, 98 (Ill. App. Ct. 

1980)). First, rather than rule that "the plaintiff could maintain a malpractice action," the Illinois 

court affIrmed its dismissal. Bronstein, 414 N .E. 2d at 99. Second, the court in no way 

suggested that settlement with the IRS would create an injury sufficient to support a malpractice 

action; instead, the court reasoned that only a ruling from the Tax Court could create such an 

injury: "[B]ecause plaintiffs tax liability has not yet been determined in the Tax Court, it is 

clear that plaintiff has not yet suffered any actual loss." Id. at 98. Finally, the Illinois court did 

not give the client a pass on proceeding in Tax Court because he claimed, like Appellants argue 

here, that he could not afford to fIght the IRS. !d. at 97-98. 

Similarly, Appellants cannot draw support from the Florida decisions in Peat, Marwick, 

Mitchell & Co. v. Lane, 565 So.2d 1323 (Fla. 1990), and Lane v. Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co., 

540 So.2d 922 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1989). In Lane, the Florida Supreme Court upheld the 

intermediate appellate court's decision, which held that the statute of limitations did not begin 

running as to the Lanes' claims against their accountants until the Tax Court entered judgment 

confIrming the IRS assessment against the Lanes. The lower court's reasoning is directly 

applicable here: 

The Lanes did not suffer redressable harm until the tax court entered judgment 
against them. Until that time, the Lanes knew only that Peat Marwick might have 
been negligent; if the tax court did not uphold the deficiency, the Lanes would not 
have a cause ofaction against Peat Marwickfor accounting malpractice. 

540 So.2d at 924 (emphasis added). The Florida Supreme Court upheld this decision. 565 So.2d 

at 1327 ("We hold that ... the limitations period for accounting malpractice commenced when 

the United States Tax Court entered itsjudgment."). These decisions directly support the Circuit 
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Court's decision in this case: Because they never petitioned the Tax Court and received no 

judgment from it, Appellants do not have a cause of action against McGuireWoods. Even more 

clearly, they explain why Appellant Jennie Graham has no claim: the Tax Court did not uphold 

the IRS assessment against her husband's estate, and she has no cause of action against 

McGuire Woods. 

Appellants, however, attempt to read into the Lane decisions something that they do not 

say. Neither the Court of Appeals nor the Florida Supreme Court states that the Lanes settled 

with the IRS. While they refer to the Tax Court's order as a "stipulated" order and that the Lanes 

agreed to its entry, they do not say that the stipulated order resulted from a settlement. What is 

more, the Florida courts do not address the question this Court has already answered in Calvert, 

namely, what effect that settlement-it there was one-had on the Lane's ability to prove 

causation. So while the Lane decisions help explain why the lack of a judgment from the Tax 

Court dooms Appellants' claims, they do not address the effect of settlement on causation. 

1. 	 Appellants have waived their argument that "transactional" nature of 
alleged malpractice exempts them from Calvert. Even if not waived, the 
argument fails. 

Appellants argue for the fIrst time on appeal that McGuire Woods' actions should be 

judged according to standards that apply to transactional malpractice, rather than litigation 

malpractice. App. Br. at 23-25. The Circuit Court did not review this issue because Appellants 

never presented it below; Appellants have therefore waived their newly-minted arguments based 

on the transactional malpractice standard. 

This Court has "continually held that issues not raised in the trial court and fIrst raised on 

appeal are considered waived." Builders' Servo & Supply CO. V. Dempsey, 680 S.E.2d 95, 99 n.9 

(W. Va. 2009) (per curiam) (citing Roberts V. Stevens Clinic Hosp., 345 S.E.2d 791, 798-99 (W. 
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Va. 1986); Bell v. West, 284 S.E.2d 885, 888 (W. Va. 1981)(per curiam)). The circuit court must 

be given "a fair opportunity to consider" an issue or it is waived on appeal. Wimer v. Hinkle, 379 

S.E.2d 383, 386 (W. Va. 1989). "This raise or waive rule is designed 'to prevent a party from 

obtaining an unfair advantage by failing to give [a] court an opportunity to rule on the objection 

and thereby correct potential error.'" Perrine v. E.1 du Pont de Nemours & Co., 694 S.E.2d 815,

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